### IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

SEARS AUTHORIZED TERMITE AND PEST CONTROL, INC. f/k/a ALL AMERICA TERMITE AND PEST CONTROL, INC.,

Petitioner,

VS.

Supreme Court No: SC01-960

SHELLEY SULLIVAN,

Respondent.

Fourth DCA No. 4D00-2276 L.T. No.: CL 99-10954 AI

On Review of a Decision by the Fourth District Court of Appeal

### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, SEARS TERMITE AND PEST CONTROL, INC., f/k/a ALL AMERICA TERMITE AND PEST CONTROL, INC.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Sears Termite & Pest Control, Inc. ("Sears TPC") seeks review by this Court of the Fourth District's decision in <u>Sullivan v. Sears Authorized Termite</u> <u>and Pest Control, Inc.</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly, D855 (Fla. 4th DCA, March 28, 2001)(App. - A), which reversed a Circuit Court Order Granting Sears TPC's Motion to Abate and Compel Arbitration (App. - B). The Fourth District certified that its decision was in conflict with the Fifth District's decision in <u>Terminix Int'l. Co., L.P. v. Ponzio</u>, 693 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997). Jurisdiction of this Court to accept review is pursuant to Florida Appellate Rule 9.030(a)(2)(vi) and Article V, § 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.

The parties shall be referenced in this brief by their names. This brief is accompanied by an appendix which shall be referenced in this brief as (App. - \_\_).

#### **SUMMARY OF FACTS**

Sullivan and Sears TPC entered into a Pest Control Customer Agreement dated August 23, 1995. (App. - C) Under the Agreement, Sears TPC agreed to provide pest control services for various pests, including spiders. Sullivan later filed suit against Sears TPC, alleging that Sears TPC had failed to eradicate brown recluse spiders from her home, leading to a spider bite which caused her injury and damages. Sullivan's Complaint alleged negligence, breach of implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose, breach of implied warranty of merchantability, negligent misrepresentation, fraud in the inducement and fraud. (App. - D).

Sullivan's alleged spider bite injury occurred only because the pest control services performed by Sears TPC under the contract were purportedly ineffective. It is patently clear that her injury did not arise from any alleged poisoning or exposure to the pesticides that Sears TPC applied. (App. - D).

As noted above, the Customer Agreement between Sullivan and Sears

TPC set forth the type of treatment to be provided by Sears TPC as follows:

ANNUAL SERVICE for Ants, Roaches, Spiders, Crickets, Silverfish and Palmetto Bugs. (App. - C).

The Customer Agreement also defined the scope of Sears TPC's responsibility:

Coverage: For a period of one year, beginning on the effective date shown above, [Sears TPC] agrees to provide necessary service and treatment for the control of the pests listed above . . . . (App. - C).

Finally, and of obvious significance here, the Customer Agreement mandated that arbitration would be the exclusive forum to resolve "any controversy or claim between [the parties] arising out of or relating to the interpretation,

performance or breach of any provision of this agreement." (App. - C).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue in this case is whether Sullivan's claims for personal injuries caused when she was bitten by a spider, which Sears TPC allegedly failed to eradicate, are subject to the arbitration clause in her agreement with Sears TPC. Because arbitration provisions are contractual in nature, the construction of such provisions and the contracts in which they appear are matters of contract interpretation. <u>Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp.</u>, 750 So. 2d 633, 636 (Fla. 1999). Hence, the standard of review of the scope and application of the arbitration clause in this case is <u>de novo</u>. The decision of the trial court is presumed to be correct, although the reviewing court is free to decide the legal issue differently without paying deference to the trial judge's view of the law. <u>Walter v. Walter</u>, 464 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1985).

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Florida law has long held arbitration clauses valid and enforceable. <u>Roe</u> <u>v. Amica Mutual Ins. Co.</u>, 533 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 1988). Today, arbitration provisions are common and their use generally favored by the courts. <u>Seifert</u> <u>v. U.S. Home Corp.</u>, 750 So. 2d at 636. Further, Florida courts have not hesitated to enforce arbitration provisions where tort claims are involved. <u>See, e.g., Terminix Int'l. Co., L.P. v. Ponzio</u>, 693 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997); <u>Bachus & Stratton, Inc. v. Mann</u>, 639 So. 2d 35 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994); <u>Value Car Sales, Inc. v. Bouton</u>, 608 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1992); <u>Larry Kent Homes v. Empire of America, FSA</u>, 474 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1985). Indeed, the Florida Arbitration Code expressly provides that arbitration clauses are valid and enforceable without regard to the justiciable character of the controversy. Fla. Stat., § 682.02 (1967).<sup>1</sup>

This Court has observed that the application of an arbitration clause to a tort claim depends upon the language contained in the clause. "The phrase 'arising out of or relating to' the contract has been interpreted broadly to encompass <u>virtually all disputes</u> between contracting parties, including related tort claims." <u>Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp.</u>, 750 So. 2d at 637 (emphasis supplied)(citations omitted). That is precisely the language contained in the arbitration provision in the Customer Agreement Sullivan entered into with Sears TPC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Compare the arbitration codes of other states which expressly exclude the application of arbitration provisions to tort or personal injury claims. Ark Code Ann. § 16-108-201(b) (Michie Supp. 1993); Ga. Code Ann. § 9-9-2(c)(10)(Supp. 1995); Kan. Stat. Ann. § 5-401(c)(3); Mont. Code Ann. § 27-5-114(2)(a) (1995); Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-2602 (1989); S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(b)(4) (Law Co-op Supp. 1994); Tex. Code Ann. § 171.002(a)(3).

The courts consider three elements when ruling on motions to compel arbitration: (1) whether a valid written agreement to arbitrate exists; (2) whether an arbitrable issue exists; and (3) whether the right to arbitrate was waived. <u>Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp.</u>, 750 So. 2d at 635 (citing <u>Terminix Int'l.</u> <u>Co., L.P. v. Ponzio</u>, 693 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997)). There is no dispute here as to the existence or validity of the written agreement between the parties, and no argument that Sears TPC waived its right to arbitration. Thus, the determinative issue in this case, as in <u>Seifert</u>, is whether the dispute between the parties is subject to arbitration.

This Court's opinion in <u>Seifert</u> sets forth the test for determining whether Sullivan's claim is subject to arbitration. <u>Seifert</u> involved a homeowner's exposure to carbon monoxide caused by a home builder's negligent placement of an air conditioning intake vent in the garage. <u>Seifert v. U.S.</u> <u>Home Corp.</u>, 750 So. 2d at 635. This Court held that the test of whether a particular claim must be submitted to arbitration necessarily depends upon the existence of some nexus between the dispute and the contract containing the arbitration clause. <u>Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp.</u>, 750 So. 2d at 638. For a tort claim to be considered "arising out of or relating to" a contract, the claim must, at a minimum, raise some issue which requires reference to or construction

of some portion of the contract itself for resolution of the claim. <u>Id</u>. The claim in <u>Seifert</u> did not so require. Rather, it was a negligence claim that arose irrespective of and outside the contract terms.

In this case, however, the Customer Agreement provided that Sears TPC would provide the service and treatment necessary for the "control" of spiders. (App. - C). In her Complaint, Sullivan refers repeatedly to a (necessarily contractually based) duty of Sears TPC to "eradicate" spiders. (App. - D). In its decision here, the Fourth District went even further, holding that "the negligence claim for personal injuries is based on Sears' breach of its duty to exercise reasonable care in applying the exterminating chemicals so as to <u>ensure</u> brown recluse spiders were <u>eradicated</u> from the infested areas." <u>Sullivan v. Sears Authorized Termite and Pest Control, Inc., supra</u> (emphasis supplied).

Although neither Sullivan in her Complaint nor the Fourth District in its decision explain what gave rise to a duty of Sears TPC to eradicate pests, the Customer Agreement is the obvious answer. With respect its interpretation, it can hardly be disputed that neither the word "ensure" nor the word

"eradicate" are used in the Customer Agreement.<sup>2</sup> Instead, the parties here agreed that Sears TPC would "control" pests such as spiders in Sullivan's home. The plain meaning of "eradicate," which Sullivan apparently contends is the standard by which to measure Sears TPC's performance, is "to erase; eliminate." See Webster's Seventh New Collegiate Dictionary (1969). On the other hand, the relevant meaning attributed to the word "control," which is the language actually used in the contract, is "to exercise restraining or directing influence over." Id. Although Sears TPC suggests that the phrase "pest control" in Florida does not mean the complete eradication or elimination of insects, that is nonetheless the touchstone of Sullivan's Complaint and there-unlike <u>Seifert</u> - lies the crux of the dispute between the parties.

The significance of the stark contrast between Sullivan's interpretation of Sears TPC's duty to perform to a certain level, and the duty which Sears TPC contends is actually set forth in the Customer Agreement, highlights the fact that a resolution of this dispute will necessarily require reference to and construction of the contract. Stated another way, the Customer Agreement is the sole and defining source of Sears TPC's obligation to perform pest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>For that matter, the word "exterminate" also does not appear in the Pest Control Customer Agreement.

control services in Sullivan's home. Sullivan's contention that she was bitten by a spider because Sears TPC allegedly failed to adequately perform its contractually based obligations is the very foundation of her claim. The issue, then, of whether Sears TPC satisfied its pest control obligations, even if some spiders survived the pesticide treatment or entered the Sullivan home afterward, is entirely dependent upon the meaning attributed to the terms of the contract between the parties. Thus, there is an inescapable and inseparable nexus between Sullivan's personal injury claim and the Customer Agreement. <u>See Seifert v. U.S. Home, supra</u>. That sort of nexus was clearly not present in <u>Seifert</u> or in <u>Terminix Int'I. Co., L.P. v. Michaels</u>, 668 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1996), upon which the Fourth District also relied here.

However, the Fifth District's decision in <u>Terminix Int'l. Co., L.P. v.</u> <u>Ponzio</u>, 693 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA, 1997), involved facts virtually indistinguishable from those in this case. In <u>Ponzio</u>, the Fifth District reversed the trial court and ordered arbitration of a spider bite claim brought by a Terminix customer. There, as here, the cause of action arose from allegedly ineffectual pest control services performed under a contract between Mr. Ponzio and Terminix. The Fifth District held that the claim clearly arose out of Terminix's contractual undertaking to provide pest control services and,

although the nature of the injuries differed from a typical breach of contract action, there was no language in the arbitration clause limiting arbitration to only those claims for economic losses. <u>Terminix Int'I. Co., L.P. v. Ponzio</u>, 693 So. 2d at 107.<sup>3</sup>

Significantly, <u>Ponzio</u> was the basis for the Fifth District's decision in <u>Seifert</u>, 699 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997), which would have abated the Seiferts' claim pending arbitration. This Court, however, did <u>not</u> disapprove of <u>Ponzio</u> when it reversed the Fifth District and allowed the Seiferts' claim to proceed in court. While this Court's decision in <u>Seifert</u> approved the Fourth District's decision in <u>Terminix Int'l. Co. L.P. v. Michaels</u>, <u>supra</u>, it also cited <u>Ponzio</u> with approval. <u>Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp.</u>, 750 So. 2d at 635. Accordingly, <u>Ponzio</u> is still good law.

As stated above, however, the Fourth District here reversed the trial court's order compelling arbitration, relying instead upon its own decision in <u>Michaels</u> and rejecting <u>Ponzio</u>. <u>Sullivan v. Sears Authorized Termite and Pest</u> <u>Control, Inc., supra</u>. But <u>Michaels</u>, which affirmed the denial of arbitration, was a toxic tort, chemical exposure case where the claimants were allegedly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The same situation obviously exists in this case and, accordingly, the Fourth District certified conflict between its decision in this case and <u>Ponzio</u>.

injured by exposure to the pesticide chemicals Terminix had applied. <u>Terminix Int'I. Co. L.P. v. Michaels</u>, 668 So. 2d at 1014. Thus, <u>Michaels</u> is much like <u>Seifert</u> - an alleged breach of a duty imposed by common law and not dependent upon an interpretation of a contract.

Indeed, in explaining how the Michaels' toxic tort claim was not connected to their termite prevention contract with Terminix, the Fourth

District held:

The personal injury claim did not relate to interpretation, performance or breach of any provision of the agreement. Those matters relating to the performance of the contract would be reasonably construed as matters concerning the application of the pesticide to the home and the resulting condition of the property to which it was applied, <u>namely the object of the contract being the eradication of termites in the home</u>.

Id. at 1015 (emphasis supplied). The foregoing language from Michaels, describing those claims that should be subject to the contractual arbitration clause, is a virtual summary of the allegations in Sullivan's Complaint. The objective of the Customer Agreement between Sullivan and Sears TPC was clearly the "control" of spiders in Sullivan's home. Sullivan alleges that Sears TPC failed to satisfy this objective, thus allowing the presence of a spider in her home which bit her and caused her alleged injuries. Clearly then, even under Michaels, which the Fourth District relied upon in this case, Sullivan's

claim must be subject to arbitration.

Moreover, the Fourth District later limited its ruling in <u>Michaels</u>, subsequently explaining that the opinion should be <u>narrowly</u> read and applied. <u>Advantage Dental Health Plans</u>, Inc. v. Beneficial Administrators, Inc., 683 So. 2d 1133 n. 1 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1996). Thus, in <u>Advantage</u>, the Fourth District reversed and compelled arbitration, holding that "all doubts as to the scope of an arbitration agreement are to be resolved in favor of arbitration rather than against it." <u>Id</u>. at 1134. The <u>Advantage</u> court further held that:

[A]ny time a contract contains an arbitration clause, there is a presumption of arbitrability in the sense that an order to arbitrate the particular grievance should not be denied unless it may be said with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation that covers the asserted dispute.

Advantage Dental Health Plans, Inc. v. Beneficial Administrators, Inc., 683 So. 2d at 1134 (quoting <u>The Regency Group Inc. v. McDaniels</u>, 647 So. 2d 192, 194 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1994)(quoting <u>AT&T Technologies</u>, Inc. v. Communications <u>Workers of America</u>, 475 U.S. 643, 106 S.Ct. 1415, 89 L.Ed.2d 648 (1986)).

The Fourth District's holding in <u>Advantage</u> thus appears contrary to <u>Michaels</u>, which it nonetheless relied on and even quoted in its decision in this case, that "a court should order arbitration 'when satisfied that there is no doubt that an agreement to arbitrate the subject dispute was made." <u>Sullivan</u>

v. Sears Authorized Termite and Pest Control, Inc., 26 Fla. L. Weekly, D855 (quoting Terminix Int'l. Co. L.P. v. Michaels, supra). There is no authority under Florida law, however, for a court to require that the proponent of arbitration prove "beyond a doubt" that a claim is included in an arbitration provision in order to compel arbitration of a dispute which arises from or relates to a contract containing such a provision. Indeed, such a "standard" would clearly constitute a reversal of longstanding Florida law - including the Fourth District's later decision in <u>Advantage</u> - that arbitration provisions must be broadly interpreted, so as to be inclusive of claims, and that all doubts as to the scope of an arbitration clause must be resolved <u>in favor</u> of arbitration. <u>See Advantage Dental Health Plans, Inc. v. Beneficial Administrators, Inc., supra.</u>

But this impermissible result is precisely the effect of the Fourth District's decision in this case. The Fourth District applied <u>Seifert</u> and <u>Michaels</u> to the facts of this case, which are virtually the same set of facts as those involved in <u>Ponzio</u>, but reached a conclusion contrary to the Fifth District in <u>Ponzio</u>. Therefore, the Fourth District's decision in this case could well lead to the plausible conclusion that <u>Seifert</u> was a <u>de facto</u> disapproval of <u>Ponzio</u>, when

it clearly was not.<sup>4</sup> At a minimum, the Fourth District's decision in this case patently underscores the unresolved and continuing conflict which has evolved since <u>Seifert</u>, and which will now surely lead to further uncertainty about how arbitration clauses should be construed, particularly when applied to tort claims. Sears TPC respectfully but strenuously suggests that such a result was not intended by this Court in deciding <u>Seifert</u> and should be rectified now.

The justiciable character of the dispute, whether it sounds in tort or contract, should have no bearing on the analysis of whether a claim is subject to arbitration. Nor should the nature of the alleged claim or damages alter the rules of how a court interprets an arbitration provision. For example, if this case involved termites biting wood and causing property damage even after pesticides were applied, the arbitration provision would clearly apply. In this case, a spider allegedly bit a person and caused personal injuries after pesticides were applied. There is absolutely no basis in logic or law for a different conclusion on the facts of this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This erroneous conclusion - that the decision in <u>Seifert</u> constituted disapproval of <u>Ponzio</u> - was argued by Sullivan at the hearing on Sears TPC's motion to compel arbitration, but was correctly rejected by the trial court. (App. - E).

The propriety of the initial ruling by the trial court that Sullivan's claim is subject to arbitration is further demonstrated by reference to the same hypothetical facts that this Court considered in <u>Seifert</u>. This Court observed:

[Seifert's] allegations rely on obligations that would extend to anyone, third parties as well as the Seiferts, who might be injured by U.S. Home's tortuous conduct. Indeed, it appears to be entirely fortuitous that it was Mr. Seifert, and not a guest or someone else in the house, who was injured as a result of the alleged neglect by U.S. Home. Obviously, such a guest or other person would not be subject to the arbitration provisions of the contract between U.S. Home and the Seiferts.

Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp., 750 So. 2d at 641.

At the risk of repetition, but in the hope of clarity, Sears TPC owed no duty under the common law to exterminate pests in Sullivan's home and, in the event Sears TPC did not exterminate all pests such as spiders, Sullivan's guests surely could not recover in tort against Sears TPC if they were bitten. Such an expansion of tort law would be all but absurd, especially when one considers that Sullivan's contract for pest control services, including its arbitration provision, would have virtually no connection to such third-party claims.

Sears TPC respectfully but strenuously urges this Court to expressly reject Sullivan's position, as adopted by the Fourth District. There can be no

question that the claim involved in this dispute is based upon an alleged failure of Sears TPC to perform duties expressly and solely arising from the Customer Agreement. This is not a case like either <u>Seifert</u> or <u>Michaels</u>, where the parties were merely introduced to each other as buyer and seller, with one party then performing its contractual obligations in a negligent manner, thus breaching a common law duty owed by it prior to and apart from any contract.

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