## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC01-960

Fourth DCA No.: 4D00-2276 L.T. No.: CL 99-10954 AI

SEARS AUTHORIZED TERMITE AND PEST CONTROL, INC. f//k/a ALL AMERICA TERMITE AND PEST CONTROL, INC.

Petitioner/Defendant,

VS.

SHELLEY SULLIVAN,

Respondent/Plaintiff,

On Review of a Decision by the Fourth District Court of Appeal

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, SHELLEY SULLIVAN

Respectfully submitted,

WILLIAM M. JULIEN Florida Bar No.: 0003743 GROSSMAN & GOLDMAN, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent/Plaintiff 1098 N. W. Boca Raton Boulevard Boca Raton, FL 33432 Phone: 561/368-8048 FAX: 561/391-1193

#

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

Sears continues to argue that because Sullivan alleged that she contracted with Sears to "eradicate" pests, and Sears agreed to only "Control" pests this somehow magically requires interpretation of the Agreement. However, this only requires using common sense (or at best) referring to a dictionary, not the Agreement. Query: Is it truly Sears' contention that they sold to Ms. Sullivan only the obligation for at least one year to "control" pests such as ants, roaches, spiders, crickets, silverfish and palmetto bugs and not the obligation to kill 'em dead? How does Sears propose to "control" spiders by exercising restraint or directing influence over without killing them? (Initial Brief p.7) If this is truly Sears' contention then Ms. Sullivan's claims for pre-contractual fraudulent inducement, and misrepresentation, clearly have merit and should be heard by a jury. Furthermore, Sullivan's Complaint alleges that Sears' representative made oral representations prior to the Agreement to induce Sullivan to enter into it. Sullivan did not even include the Agreement in the Complaint.

# II. THERE IS NOTHING CONTAINED IN THE AGREEMENT TO INDICATE THAT EITHER PARTY INTENDED TO INCLUDE TORT CLAIMS OR PERSONAL INJURY CLAIMS WITHIN THE SCOPE OF THE ARBITRATION PROVISION.

There is nothing in the Agreement whatsoever to indicate that the parties contemplated that tort claims or personal injury claims would require arbitration. This is fatal to Sears' claim for arbitration. This Court has confirmed that the determination of whether an arbitration clause requires arbitration of a particular dispute necessarily rests on **the intent of the parties**. <u>Seifert</u>, 750 So. 2d at 636. (*emphasis supplied*)

#### SEIFERT v. U. S. HOME CORP.

In <u>Seifert</u>, this Court held that a wrongful death claim against a house builder was not subject to an arbitration agreement contained in the purchase and sale contract. Claims in <u>Seifert</u> included strict liability, negligence, and breach of express and implied warranty. The arbitration provision in <u>Seifert</u> is much broader than that contained in the Sears' Agreement: "Any controversy or claim arising under or related to this Agreement or to the Property . . . or with respect to any claim arising by virtue of any representations alleged to have been made by the Seller or Seller's representative shall be..." mediated/arbitrated. *Id.* at 635. The Sears Agreement contains no provision for arbitration of claims arising from representations made by its agents. Ms. Sullivan's Complaint contains allegations relating to representations made by Sears' representatives, which do not fall under the arbitration provision. (App. D)

Like the Sears Agreement in the present case, the arbitration provision in <u>Seifert</u> did not make mention of tort or personal injury claims:

The absence of any mention of the parties' rights in the event of personal injuries or death arising out of any alleged tortious conduct such as that which allegedly occurred in this case creates ambiguity and uncertainty as to the intent of the parties. *Id.* at 641.

Further, nothing within the agreement indicates the parties contemplated that death or injuries to persons might occur and that, in the event such injuries did occur, any resulting tort claims would be subject to arbitration. In sum, there is no reference in the agreement signed by the parties to tort claims under the common law for future injuries to persons. Accordingly, we hold that the tort claim in this case does not have a sufficient relationship to the agreement as to require submission of the case to arbitration. *Id.* at 642, 643 (*emphasis supplied*)

As in <u>Seifert</u>, the Sears Agreement contains no provision to indicate that either Sears or Ms. Sullivan intended to include tort claims for personal injuries within the scope of either the contract in general, or the arbitration provision in particular. Nor does the Sears Agreement indicate that Sears or Ms. Sullivan contemplated that death or injuries might occur. Thus, even looking at the arbitration provision in a light most favorable to Sears, it is ambiguous and unclear at best. It must fail pursuant to the ruling in <u>Seifert.</u>

Furthermore, this Court in <u>Seifert</u> noted that the only reference in the arbitration provision to damages related solely to property and not to personal injuries suffered by either party as a consequence of the tortious conduct of the other. *Id.* at 641. In the Sears Agreement, the only mention of damages states that neither party shall be liable to the other for indirect, special, or consequential damages or loss of anticipated profits. As in <u>Seifert</u>, there is no mention whatsoever for damages arising out of a personal injury or tortious conduct. (App. C) Clearly, if Sears had intended so, the Agreement could have contained a provision relating to personal injury damages such as disability, disfigurement, pain and suffering, mental anguish, loss of capacity for the enjoyment of life, medical expenses, lost wages, or loss of earning capacity. Once again, Sears, in drafting its arbitration clause, failed to include the necessary language to make Ms. Sullivan's claims arbitrable.

### TERMINIX v. MICHAELS

<u>Seifert</u> expressly approved the decision, rejecting arbitration, of <u>Terminix</u> <u>International Co. v. Michaels</u>, 668 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1996). In <u>Michaels</u>, a homeowner brought an action against a termite extermination company for negligence and strict liability in connection with the company's ultra hazardous activity of applying dangerous chemicals relating to pest control. The <u>Michaels</u> court affirmed the trial court's order denying arbitration. The arbitration clause in <u>Michaels</u> was **identical** to the instant Sears Agreement, stating as follows:

> The purchaser and Terminix agree that any controversy or claim between them **arising out of or relating to the interpretation**, **performance**, **or breach of any provision of**

# this agreement shall be settled exclusively by arbitration.

Michaels, 668 So. 2d at 1014. (emphasis supplied)

<u>Michaels</u> held that the personal injury claim, including that resulting from pesticide poisoning, did not relate to the interpretation, performance or breach of "any provision" of the agreement (which includes matters concerning the application of pesticide to the home and resulting condition of the property). *Id.* at 1015 (*emphasis original*) Therefore the protection of persons was not within the subject matter of the contract. *Id.* As in <u>Michaels</u>, Ms. Sullivan's injuries do not arise out of or relate to the interpretation, performance or breach of any provision of the Agreement. Nor does the Agreement mention anywhere that it covers the protection of persons. As in <u>Michaels</u>, Ms. Sullivan's injuries arise out of the negligent application of applying dangerous chemicals relating to pest control, not to any provision of the Agreement. Again, none of the counts in the Complaint require interpretation of specific provisions in the Agreement.

#### TERMINIX v. PONZIO

<u>Terminix International Co. v. Ponzio</u>, 693 So.2d 104 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997) is the primary case relied upon by Sears and the trial court, and certified to this Court by the

Fourth District Court of Appeal as being in conflict with the Fourth District Court's decision in the present case. In <u>Ponzio</u>, homeowners brought a personal injury action based on a pest control service's negligent failure to control or eradicate pests. The <u>Ponzio</u> court held that the claim fell within the scope of the arbitration clause contained within the pest control services contract. However, the arbitration provision litigated in Ponzio states:

The purchaser and Terminix agree that any controversy or claim between them arising out of or relating to this agreement shall be settled exclusively by arbitration...

Neither party shall sue the other where the basis of the suit is this agreement... <u>Ponzio</u>, 693 So.2d at 105. (*emphasis supplied*)

The Sears Agreement, and the identical arbitration provision in <u>Michaels</u>, are much narrower in scope than the arbitration provision in <u>Ponzio</u>. They require arbitration only for claims " ... arising out of or relating to the interpretation,

performance or breach of any provision of this agreement..." (*emphasis supplied*)

The <u>Ponzio</u> court distinguished the <u>Michaels</u> case on the basis of this phrase alone:

<u>Michaels</u> can be distinguished on the basis that the arbitration provision there, in providing for arbitration or any controversy or claim **'arising out of or relating to the interpretation, performance, or breach of any provision** 

## of this agreement' is narrower than the provision here. Ponzio, 693 So.2d at 108. (*emphasis supplied*)

Furthermore, the Sears Agreement does not contain the broad arbitration language contained in <u>Ponzio</u> that "Neither party shall sue the other where the basis of the suit is this agreement...," further distinguishing the present case and Agreement from <u>Ponzio</u>. Throughout these proceedings, Sears continues to ignore, and still has not addressed, the fact that the arbitration provision in <u>Ponzio</u> was much broader than the arbitration provisions in <u>Michaels</u> and in the instant case. The decision in <u>Michaels</u>, dealing with an arbitration provision identical to the Sears provision, is controlling. Not the <u>Ponzio</u> decision, which dealt with a broader arbitration provision.

## SEARS' AGREEMENT FAILS UNDER SEIFERT, MICHAELS AND PONZIO

Simply put, Sears failed to draft the Agreement in such a way so as to resolve any doubt or ambiguity as to the arbitrability of personal injury or tort claims. Nowhere does the Agreement provide in any manner that the parties intended to arbitrate personal injury or tort claims.

In <u>Michaels</u>, the court noted that the trial "... court harbored considerable doubt as to whether the personal injury claim came within the arbitration clause ..." and held that the court should grant arbitration only when satisfied that there is <u>no doubt</u> that an agreement to arbitrate the subject dispute was made." *Id.* 668 So.2d at 1015. (*emphasis original*) The trial court in the present case even indicated that it was unclear as to whether Ms. Sullivan's claims fall within the arbitration provision of the Agreement. (App. E) The only thing to which there is no doubt in the present case is that the entire Agreement is void of any mention of arbitrating personal injury or tort claims!

III. THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN DENYING ARBITRATION BECAUSE THE AGREEMENT DOES NOT CONTAIN ANY LANGUAGE INDICATING THE PARTIES' INTENT TO WAIVE THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY FOR PERSONAL INJURY CLAIMS.

The Florida Constitution has expressly made the right to trial by jury basic to our jurisprudence. The right to a jury trial is set forth in the Declaration of Rights of the Florida Constitution under article I, section 22, which states, "The right of trial by jury shall be secured to all and remain inviolate." According to Webster's inviolate means "not violated; kept sacred or unbroken". Webster's New World Dictionary, 2<sup>nd</sup> College Ed. (1984) "The constitutional right to a trial by jury is not to be narrowly construed." In re Forfeiture of 1978Chevolet Van, 493 So.2d 433, 435 (Fla. 1986).

"Under our system of jurisprudence, trial by jury is an organic right and should under no circumstances be denied." <u>Orr v. Avon Florida Citrus Corporation</u>, 177 So. 612, 614 (Fla. 1938). Neither should Ms. Sullivan's.

The Courts should be reluctant to deny a citizen the sacred right to a jury trial. That is especially true in the present case where Ms. Sullivan has in no way knowingly waived her right to a jury trial for personal injury claims.

In affirming the trial court's order denying arbitration, this Court in <u>Seifert</u> held that requiring the plaintiff to submit her tort claim to binding arbitration would deprive her of her rights to a trial by jury, due process and access to the courts. <u>Seifert</u>, 752 So.2nd at 642. In so holding, this Court in <u>Seifert</u> noted that the lower courts, when dealing with arbitration provisions, have failed to consider the visibility or clarity of the purported agreement, the relative strength and knowledge of the parties, the voluntariness of the agreement, and the substantive fairness of the agreement. *Id*. at 642.

Sears is one of America's largest retailers and exterminators. The relative strength and knowledge of Sears in preparing this Agreement clearly outweighs Ms. Sullivan's. It would be inherently unfair to hold that by signing the adhesion contract prepared by Sears that Ms. Sullivan was knowingly and voluntarily waiving her right to a trial by jury for personal injury and tort claims. This is especially true since the arbitration provision specifically fails to indicate that she would be doing so by signing the Agreement.

This court in <u>Seifert</u> stated:

...courts should ... craft a balancing test to determine whether parties waived their constitutional rights by agreeing to arbitration. It is wrong to stretch contractual interpretations to uphold a purported arbitration agreement where such an agreement would waive constitutional rights.

Neither the statutes validating arbitration clauses nor the policy favoring such provisions should be used as a shield to block a party's access to a judicial forum in every case. Further, in the absence of express language in the parties' contract mandating arbitration of such disputes, we conclude that such a result is not required here. To deprive petitioner of these certain rights simply because she and her husband signed a contract which contained an arbitration provision, the language of which provides no indication that tort claims arising under the common law were contemplated or included, would clearly be unjust. *Id.* (*emphasis supplied*)

It would clearly be unjust to allow Sears to block Ms. Sullivan's constitutional right to access to the courts and her right to a jury trial simply because Sears inserted an arbitration clause which clearly does not indicate Ms. Sullivan's intention to waive those fundamental rights. There simply is no interpretation of the arbitration provision in the present case which would stretch so far as to deny Ms. Sullivan her constitutional rights.

## IV. THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION IN THIS CASE IS IN ACCORD WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>SEIFERT</u>; THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN <u>PONZIO</u>

Sullivan would argue that there is, in fact, no actual conflict between the Fourth District Court's decision in the present case and with the Fifth District's decision in the <u>Ponzio</u> case. As the Fourth District noted, in the present case and in <u>Michaels</u>, the arbitration provision in <u>Ponzio</u> was much broader than the narrow arbitration provisions in the present case and <u>Michaels</u>. This Court in <u>Seifert</u> quashed the Fifth District's decision in <u>Ponzio</u> when it approved <u>Michaels</u>. <u>Michaels</u> and this case are not in actual conflict. The only reason that arbitration was ordered in <u>Ponzio</u> was the more expansive language of the arbitration clause in that case. The <u>Ponzio</u> decision did not address the more narrow arbitration provision contained in <u>Michaels</u> and the present case.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal confirmed this again in the present case:

The seemingly more expansive language of the arbitration clause in <u>Ponzio</u>, may account for the reason why conflict

with <u>Michaels</u> was not certified to the Florida Supreme Court. However, the Supreme Court approved our decision in <u>Michaels</u>. *See*, <u>Seifert v. U. S. Home Corp</u>., 750 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1999)

Sullivan v. Sears Authorized Termite and Pest Control, Inc., 780 So.2d 996, 999 (Fla.

4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001) In fact, the Fifth District in Ponzio did not certify any conflict between

its decision and the Fourth District's decision in Michaels. This is further evidence

that the decisions are not in conflict.

In the present case, the Fourth District specifically relied on the rulings in

Michaels, and of this Court in ruling that Sullivan's claims are not arbitrable:

We believe there are a number of similarities between the negligence claim at issue in this appeal and the wrongful death claim reviewed in <u>Seifert</u>. Thus, a reversal of the trial court's decision is warranted.

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